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ABSTRACT

Known as the Cherry Capital of the World, Traverse City is an economic and
tourism hot-spot in the northwestern lower peninsula of Michigan. Located at
the base of West Grand Traverse Bay, Traverse City’s mild climate and sandy
beaches have made it a vibrant and popular place to live, work and play for
generations. During the spring of 2005, the decommissioning and deconstruction
of the city’s power station returned a significant portion of the waterfront to
open space. This newly acquired open space garnered significant attention from
residents and city officials. While the area is a great location for a park or other
pedestrian-oriented space, Grandview Parkway, the main east-west connector
through the city, creates a physical and psychological barrier to accessibility
between the downtown and the waterfront. In an attempt to create a safe and
enjoyable pedestrian connection that draws visitors back and forth between the
waterfront and downtown, this Character Study was developed to assist the city.
Public participation, site visits, historical research, and land-use evaluations
were used to better understand the tangible and intangible qualities of Traverse
City that combine to produce its unique personality. Information gathered during
the Character Study process was then used to identify specific areas within the
downtown core to concentrate on as key downtown-to-waterfront transition
areas. Recommendations and suggestions are also included in an effort to
enhance and maintain Traverse City character for future residents and visitors.
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The purpose of this Character Study is to understand the essence of Traverse
City’s downtown character through a thoughtful review of the following: the
City’s history, past and present planning initiatives, residents’ sentiments, and
the consideration of sustainable development practices. In addition, the
Traverse City Character Study serves as one of several sources which will inform
a set of forthcoming design guidelines for creating new connections between the
City’s Central Business District and the waterfront. Both of these documents are
part of the larger “Your Bay, Your Say” initiative. This initiative brings the
knowledge and ideas of Traverse City residents together with the expertise of
Michigan State University and the University of Michigan to develop a
contemporary vision for the West Grand Traverse Bay waterfront and enhanced
connections between the Bay and the Downtown. This initiative consists not only
of the authors of this Character Study but also of undergraduate Landscape
Architecture students from Michigan State University who participated in a design
charrette with Traverse City residents in September of 2005 to generate design
ideas and identify preferences. This Character Study was completed to partially-
fulfill the requirements for Master of Landscape Architecture and Master of
Science degrees from the University of Michigan in the spring of 2006. This
project was completed over a sixteen month period from January 2005 to May
2006 and the Traverse City Downtown Development Authority served as our
client.

CHARACTER STUDY RATIONALE

The purpose of this urban character study is to understand the tangible and
intangible qualities of downtown Traverse City that combine to create its unique
personality. Kevin Lynch, the eminent urban design scholar, in his landmark 1960
text “The Image of the City”, noted the importance of the physical landscape in
providing the settings for a meaningful everyday life. He stated that “A vivid and
integrated physical setting, capable of producing a sharp image, plays a social
role as well. It can furnish the raw material for the symbols and collective
memories of group communications.”® Thus, the very nature of the built
environment can contribute to or detract from the social life of the city. The
citizens of Traverse City have long appreciated their scenic waterfront location
and sought to shape their built environment in a harmonious and enlivening
manner.

Traverse City has a well-established downtown core that is economically vibrant
and therefore evolving. Centrally located industrial and residential
neighborhoods can contribute to the aesthetic qualities of the downtown core.
Jane Jacobs, in her seminal 1961 book “The Death and Life of Great American
Cities” decisively concluded that “..lively, diverse, intense cities contain the
seeds of their own regeneration, with energy enough to carry over for problems
and needs outside themselves.”? This regeneration is successfully represented in
Traverse City, as it has matured from a small mill-town in the mid 19" century to
the successful community that it is today, constantly evolving and revolving
around its central downtown area and waterfront.



Traverse City’s cohesive character can be found in its downtown. Small shops and
businesses that have withstood the retail shift towards big-box stores and the
suburbanization of commerce. Its success is in part due to its location and
pedestrian scale, sandwiched between the bay and the Boardman River. William
Whyte, in his book “The Social Life of Small Urban Spaces”, noted the
importance of density and urbanity in smaller cities:

“..some are blessed with a tight, well-defined center, with some fine old
buildings to anchor it. But many others have loosened up; they have torn down
old buildings and not replaced them, leaving much of the space open. Parking
lots and garages become the dominant land use, often accounting for more than
50 percent of downtown. ...they are so interspersed with parking lots that they
don’t connect very well...”” 3

While the variety of uses in the downtown and the physical waterfront setting of
Traverse City have contributed to its unique character, it is the architecture of
the area that has done the most to define Traverse City as a distinct Northern
Michigan city. Many old buildings, such as the historic City Opera House, the Park
Place Hotel, and the Hannah-Lay Mercantile Building, have been retained and
preserved. These buildings serve as links to Traverse City’s past and form a
foundation in the city’s architectural character. William Whyte described the
function of historical buildings in well-working downtowns by saying

“It is significant that the cities doing best by their downtowns are the ones doing
best at historic preservation and reuse. Fine old buildings are worthwhile in their
own right, but there is a greater benefit involved. They provide discipline.
Architects and planners like a blank slate. They usually do their best work,
however, when they don’t have one. When they have to work with impossible lot
lines and bits and pieces of space, beloved old eyesores, irrational street layouts,
and other such constraints, they frequently produce the best of their new designs
- and the most neighborly”*

A city’s character is influenced by many things: the natural landscape, the uses
contained, and the architecture of the area. However, it is only when people
interact and interpret these factors that the character of a city becomes truly
recognizable. Kevin Lynch captured this complex truth when he wrote that
“Nothing is experienced by itself, but always in relation to its surroundings, the
sequences of events leading up to it, the memory of past experiences.””
Preserving a city’s character requires thoughtfully distilling its essence and
suggesting how change should be managed to promote the unique possibilities
inherent to the city and its inhabitants.



INTRODUCTION

Traverse City is located in the Northwest part of the Michigan’s Lower Peninsula,
just south of the Leelanau Peninsula. In 2000, the city was home to 14,500
people, and encompassed just over 8 square miles. Incorporated in 1895, the city
has a long and varied history predating this time.

This character study was undertaken at the behest of the city in an effort to:
take stock of residents’ current attitudes and preferences on the city’s current
form, determine the direction the city relative to future development, and
strengthen connections between the waterfront and downtown.
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Fig. 1: Study Area in the Regional Context®

For the purpose of this character study, we will be focusing on the area
surrounding the downtown core, shown in Figure 2. This area is defined on the
western edge by Oak Street, from the Bay south to Fifth Street, continuing along
Fifth Street to Wadsworth Avenue, south on Wadsworth to Sixth Street, east on
Sixth to Locust Avenue, and south on Locust to Eighth Street. The southern edge
of the district is defined by Eighth Street from Locust to Boardman Avenue. The
eastern edge of the area is defined by Boardman between Eighth and State
Street, continuing east on State to Railroad Avenue, Railroad Avenue northwest
to Front, east on Front Street, then following Grandview Parkway west for a
short length to just east of the mouth of the Boardman River.



undertaken. This area is generally bordered on the West by Oak Street, the South by Eighth
street, and the East by Boardman and Railroad Avenues

Located at the intersection of wine country, Sleeping Bear Dunes, the Lake
Michigan coast, and the numerous downhill skiing areas of Northern Michigan,
Traverse City is one of Michigan’s premier vacation spots. As such, Grand
Traverse County’s population has grown quickly: the 1970 population of 39,175
doubled to 77,654 by 2000. Growth in the county has averaged 15% a decade for
the past 100 years, but a 40% growth rate from 1970 - 1980 left the county with a
population far exceeding the city’s capabilities to provide services. In direct
contrast to the county’s growth, the city has seen a 4.3% population decrease
over the past decade. The population has declined from 15,155 in 1990 to 14,532
permanent residents in 2000. As a result of the population change throughout
the county, Traverse City’s development in the past few decades has been more
suburban in character. Much growth has taken place along the bay and south of
downtown, past the natural barrier of Boardman Lake, and further out into the
county.

The National Cherry Festival, held each summer on the Bay Front in downtown
Traverse City, draws many tourists, both nationally and locally. In addition to this
week-long event, Traverse City has worked hard to create year-round events, to
draw both area residents and visitors to what is one of Northwest Michigan’s most
vibrant downtowns.



Traverse City is the economic center of the region. Residents and visitors alike
recognize that what distinguishes the city apart from other Northern Michigan
towns is its  vibrant : o e ;
downtown, diverse ‘ 4=
recreational offerings, the
natural beauty of the
surrounding area, and its
small town atmosphere. It
iIs in the hope of aiding
Traverse City in retaining
and enhancing these assets
that we undertake this
character study and the
accompanying design
guidelines.

Fig. 3: 2003 Birds-eye-view of downtown Traverse City,
looking northwest. Photo credit: Traverse City Record-Eagle



HISTORY

Historical Synopsis

Like Michigan’s oldest towns and cities, Traverse City has a rich natural and
cultural history. The Grand Traverse area’s unique landforms, water bodies, and
climactic conditions were fundamental in shaping the indigenous and immigrant
societies which depended upon the area’s resource base. The area’s extensive
coastline, sandy beaches, rolling hills, verdant forests, surging rivers, and inland
lakes continue to be prized assets for Grand Traverse residents and visitors.

There can be no precise date that marks the beginning of Traverse City’s story;
however, the formation of the land and bays that lend the Grand Traverse area
its shape is a useful starting point. The region’s topography is largely a result of
the movement and melting of glaciers as they receded around 6100 B.C. The
area’s proximity to Lake Michigan, along with its protected bays, has resulted in
a moderated climate. Grand Traverse’s natural history has had important
implications for the ecology and commerce of the region over the millennia.

The first known inhabitants of the region, the indigenous mound-building
peoples, are believed to have come to the area after the glaciers receded, and
are thought to have depended upon agriculture, including corn. Much later,
around the 1700s, Native Americans (primarily the Odawa and Ojibwa) took
advantage of the area’s favorable climate and sandy soils to garden and tend
fruit trees. Cherries, one of the agricultural products which have taken on
cultural importance in the area’s modern history, were first cultivated by
Reverend Peter Dougherty in 1852 at his mission in Omena.

In addition to fruit production, the Grand Traverse area’s water bodies and
forests played a seminal role in the region’s modern development. The mid-
1800s witnessed a significant influx of European settlers, attracted first by pine
lumber and later by hardwoods. The history of the lumber industry in Traverse
City is the history of its influential founders. The flurry of economic and
demographic growth that lasted until the early 20" century, depended upon the
area’s rich forests but would not have been possible without its proximity to a
number of important water bodies. What is today known as Traverse City was
particularly attractive for commerce and residence due to its location on the
Boardman River. With its mouth at the foot of West Grand Traverse Bay, the
river proved fundamental in the lumber industry’s growth, permitting workers to
float timber downriver. The use of the land, river, and bay for logging
operations led to the beginnings of a village; with mills and worker housing along
the bay front, and institutional buildings, retail, services, and residences on the
land nestled into the crook of the river. By the late 19" century, increasing
numbers of tourists began to arrive in Traverse City to enjoy the area’s natural
beauty. Beachside resorts and hotels sprang up in response to this growing
hospitality industry.



The Boardman River and other important features of Traverse City took their
name from Captain Harry Boardman, one of the city’s most influential settlers.
In the mid-1800s he purchased 200 acres of land from the US Government
between the contemporary Boardman Lake and West Grand Traverse Bay.
Boardman quickly resold his land to Perry Hannah, Tracy Lay, and James Morgan
from Chicago. Hannah, Lay and Company was the first substantial employer in
the city. The Company’s success exercised a heavy and lasting influence on
settlement patterns and urban form in Traverse City. The village was formerly
laid out by lumber baron Tracy Lay, with Hannah, Lay, & Company donating land
for the first courthouse, jail and a number of other important institutions.

The mid-1800s through the beginning of the 20" century witnessed the arrival of
important transportation services, the enhancement of transit routes, the
provision of the first public utilities, and increased construction activity. By the
early 1870s, the first railroad came to Traverse City. This was a great boon for
both commerce and the movement of new residents and tourists. The Hannah,
Lay, & Company Mercantile Building, still standing today at the corner of Front
and Union Streets, opened in 1863. A multitude of religious organizations formed
and built places of worship from this time forward. Schools, a fire station, and a
waterworks were added, and in 1885, Traverse City’s first electric light and
power plant opened. The Northern Michigan Asylum (later known as the State
Hospital) opened in the same year. Working-class immigrants concentrated in
modest, but architecturally-interesting residences south of the Boardman around
Union and 8th Streets. At the same time, business and professional people began
to form what is now the Boardman neighborhood. Cultural landmarks were born
to serve the growing population of residents and tourists, including the City
Opera House. Finally, important buildings that remain today were added to the
downtown during the 1890s: the Masonic, Beadle, Munson, and Wurzberg
Buildings, along with the Whiting Hotel. By 1895, Traverse City officially became
a city and adopted a charter.

In 1900, long distance telephone service with the rest of the state was
established. The new Boardman River Electric Light & Power Company began
servicing buildings and streetlights. Improved and expanded utility service
coincided with an explosive amount of construction during the first decade of the
twentieth century. Between 1900 and 1905, almost 500 buildings were erected,
forming the core of today’s downtown. By 1910, the city’s population was a
little more than 12,000. The automobile had arrived to Traverse City and would
only grow in popularity, bringing more visitors to the area. Regionally,
agriculture was thriving. In the early 1910s, cherry production outpaced apples.
In 1913, a half million dollar cherry crop resulted in Traverse City’s designation
as the cherry center of the nation. Traverse City commemorated its new status as
the “Cherry Capitol of the World” with a festival for the first time in 1925.

Although industry was on the decline, improvements to the city’s infrastructure,
transportation networks, and urban form continued throughout the early- to mid-
20" century. Dangerous bridges spanning South Cass and Union Streets were
replaced with two new bridges in the 1930s, and a new city airport opened in



1938. The landmark Park Place Hotel that sits at Park and State Streets was
built by 1930. Traverse City Park Commissioner Conrad Foster spearheaded an
immense effort of hundreds of volunteers in the early 1930s to clean up the
waste leftover from industries on the bay, and to make a portion of the bay front
into a public park. This would be the beginning of a number of city efforts to
acquire property along the bay front for the establishment of park and
recreational areas. Also during this decade, an aquarium, the Con Foster
Museum, the Clinch Park Zoo - which would later move to the bay front - were
constructed and opened to the public.

In 1940, Traverse City adopted the city manager form of government. The same
year, the city began planning for the construction of Grandview Parkway to
address increasing traffic and congestion. The Parkway was completed in 1953
and two years later, Front and State Streets became one-way. An additional
significant development of the 1950s was the establishment of Northwestern
Michigan College.

In the 1960s Traverse City reached its peak population of some 18,400 residents.
As discussed in later chapters, this number would decline to today’s estimated
14,500 owing to the closing of the State Hospital and the lure of growing
suburban areas. There was increasing diversification of the area’s economic base
in the 50s and 60s, though agriculture and tourism continued to play seminal
roles in the economy. The 1960s also saw the formation of the Downtown
Traverse City Association, an organization of merchants and other businesses
whose purpose was to market and promote Traverse City. By the late 1970s, the
Downtown Development Authority was formed as the impact of competition from
shopping centers and malls was felt by downtown businesses. Finally, during
these decades the people of Traverse City increased their support for
conservation and preservation. Public support continued to grow for the “Open
Space” along West Grand Traverse Bay as more buildings were removed, as did a
commitment to the preservation of a number of historic structures in the
downtown. (The We-Que-Tong Building was torn down in 1945. The Musselman
Grocery Company Building and the J.C. Morgan Cider Mill came down in 1969 and
1970. Strong support for the preservation and enhancement of the “Open Space”
continues today. In 2005, the last major industrial structure on the bay front,
the Traverse City Light and Power Plant, was torn down.)

In the late 1970s, 1980s, and 1990s, additional improvements to infrastructure,
parks and recreational opportunities, and important services proved to be
fundamental in building the vibrant place that Traverse City is today. During
these years, the Governmental Center Building was constructed to house both
city and county offices. The Bay Area Transportation Authority (BATA) and the
Traverse Area Recreation and Transportation (TART) Trail were both established,
a new public library was built on Boardman Lake, and reuse and redevelopment
of the old State Hospital into a new mixed-use Grand Traverse Commons began.
The new airport added in the late 1960s, along with the expansion of healthcare
and educational services through Munson Medical Center and Northwestern
Michigan College, respectively, are other important milestones in the city’s
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recent history. Indeed, it is this progressive improvement in public amenities,
social services, and environmental protection over the years that has made
Traverse City’s downtown one of the healthiest for local businesses, and most
attractive to residents and visitors in the State of Michigan.
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Natural History

The unique combination of landforms, water bodies, and air masses that meet in
the Grand Traverse area create a wealth of natural resources. The extensive
coastline, sandy beaches, rolling hills, verdant forests, surging rivers, and inland
lakes have been prized for centuries by Grand Traverse residents and visitors.

Geomorphology

Geologists estimate that 14,500 years ago, the last ice sheet of the Wisconsin ice
age covered most of what is now Michigan. As the ice sheet receded from the
area that is now Grand Traverse County, around 8100 years ago’, the sediments
deposited by its melting bulk
formed the Manistee moraine
(“End Moraine” in Fig 5). The
Manistee moraine is a broad ridge,
three to four miles wide, that
partially surrounds Traverse City,
extends north into Leelanau
County, and extends east from
Acme to the point where the
Kalkaska County line meets Round
Lake. Two large ground moraines
form most of Old Mission Peninsula
and a portion of land east of East
Grand Traverse Bay. Drumlins rise
up from these ground moraines,
giving these areas their
picturesque rolling landscape®.
Along the shores of the bays are
lake plains; these were once the
bottom of glacial Lakes Algonquin
and Nippising on which present-day
Traverse City is located. Parallel
beach ridges are interspersed with
swales containing shallow ponds or
WEXFORD COUNTY swamp forest. South of the lake
benches and north of the Manistee
Fig 5: Glacial Geology of Grand Traverse County moraine is an area of outwash
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plains and glacial spillings. Traverse City and the area immediately surrounding
it are on the Rubicon-Grayling soil association, which includes level to steep
droughty soils. More specifically, the area that is now the Central Business
District, along with all of the shore, is fairly level Lake Beach and Eastport Sand.
Further south, all the way to the south end of Boardman Lake, the area is
covered by East Lake-Mancelona loamy sands.® The drumlins consist of well-
drained gravelly sand and gravelly sandy-loam.° Many of the narrow depressions
between drumlins contain peat and other thick organic soils.™

Watershed

Grand Traverse Bay is a large, deep, oligotrophic (read ecologically “young”)
inlet of Lake Michigan, covering a surface area greater than 360 square miles,
with a shoreline longer than 132 miles. Old Mission Peninsula divides the bay in
two: West Grand Traverse Bay averages 167 feet in depth, with a maximum
depth of 402 feet, while East Grand Traverse Bay averages 193 feet, with a
maximum depth of 612 feet. Grand Traverse Bay drains a watershed of about
973 square miles, including more than 20 tributaries, the most important of
which are Boardman River (which flows through Traverse City), Elk River,
Mitchell Creek, Yuba Creek, and Acme Creek. The gravel and sand comprising so
much of the region’s soil allows water to infiltrate and move through the soil
readily. The tributaries of Grand Traverse Bay are therefore 95% groundwater
fed, with stable, cold flows that create ideal habitats for cold-water fish.?

Fig 6: Grand Traverse Bay Watershed Sub-basins*®
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Figs 7a,b,c: Fly-fishermen on the Boar
Grand Traverse Bay, 2005

Climate

The proximity of these landforms to Lake Michigan and the protected bays has a
moderating effect on the area’s climate, creating a hybrid of continental and
quasi-maritime climates. Like most large bodies of water, Lake Michigan retains
the warmth of summer far into the autumn, and the cold of winter far into the
spring. Winds from the south or southeast blow overland and this is sometimes
the cause of abrupt temperature variation. However, winds traveling west over
the Lake grow warmer or colder in accordance with the water temperature. By
the time they reach the Grand Traverse area, westerly winds bring cooler
temperatures in the spring, discouraging plants from budding too early, before
the last frost; and they bring warmer temperatures in the autumn, allowing
plants more time to mature and bear fruit. The lake also stabilizes the yearly
precipitation, so that rainfall from April to September tends to be well-
distributed. Most thunderstorms lose strength as they cross Lake Michigan,
although there are sometimes high-intensity storms in the summer.** *°

These climactic conditions have had important implications for ecology,
agriculture, industry and tourism over the millennia. Plants, protected from
wasting their energy early in the spring, also thrive later into the growing season,
leading to productive forests and farmland. Air drainage down hillsides reduces
the danger of frost damage. Snowfall in the winter is usually sufficient to
protect both winter grain and grapevines from freezing. This favorable climate,
along with the sandy, well-drained soils found throughout the region, provides
ideal conditions for the growth of many kinds of fruit.*

,:54. Aty : et
Figs 8a,b,c: A fruit stand at the edge of an orchard,
Peninsula

Farmland, ieyard on Old Mission

Atop the landforms and soils was the natural resource that drew a huge influx of
settlers in the mid-1800s: the forests. Loams and limey soils supported the
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growth of sugar maples, beech, elm, and other trees, especially hardwoods.
Stands of red and white pine, interspersed among the hardwoods, made the most
of poor, infertile soils. Black spruce, northern white-cedar, and balsam fir
dominated in swamps. Trees present in less profusion included black oak, white
oak, trembling aspen, bigtooth aspen, balsam poplar, hop-hornbeam, yellow
birch, paper birch, black cherry, white ash, black ash, basswood, jack pine,
hemlock, tamarack, and juniper.*’

Human Influence

Clear-cut timber harvesting left large swaths of land empty of all but snags and
dry, discarded brush, called “slash.” This accumulation of dry woody debris set
the perfect conditions for raging forest fires, especially where pitch-containing
pine brush was left behind. Consequently, wildfires frequently blazed through
logged areas, living forest, and towns. 8

Fire stimulated the growth of aspen stands, oaks, and pin cherry trees, among
others. In many cases, attempts to farm land which had been clear-cut and
burned were unsuccessful until the land recovered enough nutrients to support
crops. The infertile soils which bore pine trees thwarted would-be farmers in
particular.?® %

“Log running,” the practice of floating large quantities of timber downstream
during spring floods, caused erosion of river banks and channels, modifying their
shapes and flow regimes.?* Construction of dams, first for water power and later
for hydroelectric power, changed the flow of water, sediment, nutrients, energy,
and biota, interrupting and altering most of the rivers’ important ecological
processes, and transforming riverine habitats.

2324
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Figs 9a,b,c: Log running on the Boardman River. Boardman River, far upstream of Traverse City
2005. Dam between Cass and Union Streets, built 1867 to provide water power for a gristmill

Over the last century and a half, industry, agriculture and development of land
for housing, commercial, and transportation purposes have had significant
effects on natural resources. Waste disposal, excessive fertilizer and pesticide
use, construction activity, removal of forest, and increases in impervious surface
have contributed to erosion, sedimentation of streams and rivers, and pollution
of land and water with excess nutrients, toxins, and pathogens. Additional
concerns include thermal pollution of waterways, habitat loss, and invasive
species that outcompete their neighbors or alter the environment so that other
species can no longer survive. The protection of large swaths of land as the
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Pere Marqguette State Forest has helped to preserve habitat and limit
fragmentation. Contemporary efforts to establishment greenways throughout
Northwestern Michigan are also beneficial for the species that inhabit this
region. The map below shows the land uses in the region around Traverse City in
1978. Today, the land use in the Grand Traverse Bay Watershed is still largely
forest (49%), agriculture (20%), and open shrub or grasslands (15%). Water makes
up 9% of the land use, and wetlands account for 1%. The remaining 6% is urban
area, with Traverse City and Kalkaska being the largest urban centers.®

Cultural History

11,000 - 1500 A.D. Prehistoric Peoples

The first people to leave behind evidence of their presence in the Grand Traverse
area were Paleo-Indians. They are believed to have migrated into the area from
the south as glaciers retreated. Spear points from these early inhabitants, dating
from around 8,000 B.C., have been found in Grand Traverse County.?®

The next inhabitants of the area were a population of mound-building indigenous
people. Small burial mounds were found around Boardman Lake and along
Boardman River, including many at the site that is now the location of the Grand
Traverse County Courthouse (Boardman Avenue and Washington Street). These
mounds were generally three to five feet tall and approximately 18’ in diameter,
containing weapons, ornaments, tools, and possessions, as well as bodies of the
dead. The site of an ancient manufactory of stone arrowheads was found on a
bank of the Boardman River.?’> %

It is unclear whether the mound builders that inhabited the Grand Traverse area
were of the Hopewell culture (beginning around 300 BCE and ending between 600
and 800 CE) or the Mississippian culture (beginning between 600 and 900 CE, and
ending between 1000 and 1400 CE). Both cultures had widespread trade
networks, cities, and well-established forms of government and religion. Both
depended on agriculture: the Hopewell cultures grew squash, sunflowers, and
various grasses, including maize. The Mississippian cultures focused primarily on
intensive maize production. The Hopewell cultures seem to have disappeared
starting around 300 CE, and it is uncertain whether they have a link to the
Mississippian culture. However, the latter culture transitioned through stages
from sedentism through the formation of complex chiefdoms, to a period of
increasing warfare, political strife, and population movement. First contact of
the Mississippian cultures with Europeans resulted in misunderstandings and
aggression. Eventually, as Europeans settled the eastern coast of North America,
diseases devastated some communities, while others acquired European horses
and returned to a nomadic way of life. European settlers who noticed the
earthworks developed an idea that they had been constructed by a “lost race” of
mound builders unrelated and superior to the Native American peoples they were
displacing. However, scholarly research in the late 1870s showed that there was
no physical difference between the mound builders and the Native Americans
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encountered by the settlers. The Mississippians are now believed to be ancestral
to the Native Americans living in the same territories in the 1500s. 2 30- 3. 32

1500s - 1700s The Anishnabek, French Traders and ‘“Le Grande Traverse”

Other Native Americans also came to the Grand Traverse area. The majority of
these people were members of two tribes indigenous to “Turtle Island” (North
America), who migrated west through Canada from the eastern coast of the
continent during the 1500s, eventually reaching the Lower Peninsula of Michigan.
These people, along with other tribes, called themselves the Anishnabek (“good
man” or “original man). They shared and still share a culture, spiritual beliefs,
religious practices, and the Anishinaabemowin language. The Anishnabek
established trade routes from the Atlantic Ocean to the Rocky Mountains and
from northern Canada to the Gulf of Mexico.®® 3 %

Traveling through Ontario in 1615 and to Sault Ste. Marie in 1622, the Anishnabek
encountered French explorers. Legend recounts that the names of sub-groups of
the Anishnabek were the result of a miscommunication between early explorers
and the native people. Explorers attempting to make inquiries in
Anishnaabemowin mistakenly assumed that words describing the tasks carried out
by different groups of Anishnabek (“ojibwek™ - going to build lodges, “odawak™ -
going to trade, and “bodwe’aadamiinhk™ - keeping the fire) were the names of
different tribes. These names were pronounced “Chippewa,” “Ottawa,” and
“Pottawattamii” by Europeans. More recently, many of the indigenous people
have chosen to return to the names “Ojibwa,” “Odawa” and “Bodowadomi.”
These three groups form the “Three Fires Confederacy.” %' 3 The Algonquin
also consider themselves to be Anishnabek, but hold themselves politically
independent of their kinfolk.*®

The French traders treated the Native Americans with respect, offering gifts and
unfamiliar weapons - guns and gunpowder - in exchange for furs. Unlike the
British and American settlers who came later, many Frenchmen married Native
American women. The Anishnabek did not arrive in Grand Traverse Bay until the
1700s, when the Odawa population shifted from eastern to western Michigan.
They had amicable relations with the French for many decades, and it was the
French who named the region “Le Grande Traverse” (“The Great Crossing”)
because of the stretch of open water at the mouth of the bays that must be
crossed, when traveling along Lake Michigan’s southern coastline. 39 40- 4 42



For those who resided in northwestern Michigan’s Lower Peninsula, the large bays
and the mouth of the river at the south end of the western bay were particularly
important. The river is located so that its last course before joining the bay runs
nearly parallel to the bay’s shoreline. The Anishnabek frequently used the point
of land at the mouth of the river as a staging area where they changed between
canoe travel and overland foot travel through the forests. For this reason, the
land was still known as “Indian Point,” long after white settlers built their city
around it, and the Anishnabek returned to camp and to hold pow-wows there
through the 1920s.*

Figs 11a,b: Two photographs of Anishnabek carhping on Indian Point

Members of a clan typically chose sites near water to build homes singly, in small
groups, or in larger communities (based on family affiliations) such as the one at
Old Mission. While their summer dwellings varied in size, shape, and material,
the largest lodges, called wiigiwaam, measured 50-60 in length and could
contain three fires. Villages often included separate buildings where the
community’s food was stored. The Anishnabek grew pumpkins, corn, beans, and
potatoes in their gardens. In springtime, they harvested sap from maple trees
for sugar. During the winter, they scattered to the forests to hunt and fish, and
some brought back seeds of wild plum and other fruits from their southern
hunting grounds.** *°
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Figs 12a,b,c: Wiigiwaam, Anishnabek Village, Fishing in Canoe

1836-1847 Indian Removal Policy of the United States Government

The new United States government sent Commissioner Henry Schoolcraft to the
Odawa and Ojibwa in Michigan in 1836, with a treaty. The two bands of
Anishnabek agreed to act together, and ceded away two-thirds of the land that is
now Michigan, but reserved one-third of the land for their own use and retained
their hunting, fishing, and gathering rights on the ceded lands. This reservation
was intended to remain in effect for only five years; after this time, the bands
would be moved west of the Mississippi. Presbyterian missionary Peter Dougherty
established a mission in 1839 on the north end what later became known as Old
Mission Peninsula. He and his followers built a mission church there in 1842.
Some of the Anishnabek scouted out the land to which their removal was
planned, and became distraught upon seeing its dry, barren nature. Dougherty
advised these Anishnabek to try to become citizens, so that they might be able to
purchase available lands from the U.S. government and avoid being forced to
relocate. From 1841-44, these individuals petitioned the Legislature to support
their bid for U.S. citizenship, which it finally did in 184446 47 48. 49
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Figs 13a,b: Early map of Michigan, Mission Church built in 1842
1847- 1863 Logging and the Company Town

The United States and Michigan governments pursued a strategy of acculturation
and assimilation of Native Americans. The 1859 Michigan constitution allowed
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“males... of Indian descent” to vote, as long as they denounced their affiliation
with any tribe. Most of the Anishnabek in Michigan managed to avoid deportation
out west. In 1855, the Odawa and Ojibwa signed a second Treaty, dissolving
their tribal organization and thus ending the threat of removal. The treaty
reserved tracts of land for allotment to the Indians, including most of Leelanau
County and some of Antrim County. However, a large proportion of this land
could not be claimed by the Odawa and Ojibwa within the ten year time limit,
due to a combination of federal laws, governmental mismanagement, illegal
transactions, squatters, and the Anishnabek’s unfamiliarity with the workings of
the land tenure system.>°

In 1847, Captain Harry Boardman from Naperville, Illinois purchased 200 acres of
land between the lake and the bay from the U.S. government. This area included
the river connecting them. His son, Horace, along with several hired hands, built
a single water-powered sawmill on Mill Creek (now Kid’s Creek), to mill the
Eastern white pine.>*

In 1851, Perry Hannah, Tracy Lay, and James Morgan, owners of the recently-
formed Hannah, Lay and Company, of Chicago, purchased the land, buildings,
and mill from Captain Boardman. Hannah, Lay and Company immediately built
their own steam-powered sawmill between the Boardman River and the bay.
They cleared the river of debris, enabling workers to fell trees, skid logs out of
forests over snow in winter, float them downriver during spring floods, haul logs
into the mill, and load processed lumber right onto ships in the bay on the other
side of the mill. A second steam sawmill was added in 1862. Logging would
become less seasonally-dependent as big wheels, invented in 1875, and later
logging railroads on narrow-gauge moveable tracks allowed logs to be transported
year-round.>% 3 >
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Figs 14a,b,c: Hannah, Lay & Company sawmill built in 1853 (1880 photo) and logs floating down
the Boardman River, Skidding logs out of the forest over snow, Workers posing with big wheels

The use of the land, river, and bay for logging operations led to the beginnings of
a village. Initially, Hannah, Lay, and Company was the only employer in town.
The mill hands settled along the bay to the west of the new steam sawmill.
Their homes were constructed out of mill slabs, and as a result the little
community came to be known as “Slab Town.” As the number of workers grew,
Hannah, Lay and Co. moved and expanded their small general store. In 1855,
they constructed a 90-foot two story frame building north of Bay Street. This
store eventually gained three additional sections, and included a general banking
room and vault. Other retail, services, institutional buildings and residences
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were constructed on the land nestled into the crook of the river. Saloons were
established, and boarding houses, such as Bay House, Cutler House, Sprague
House, Gunton House, and the Exchange Hotel, were built to accommodate
unmarried workers.>®
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Figs 15a,b,c: Captions: A Slabtown home (between 1860 and 1870), Hannah, Lay & Co.

General Store on the Bay, Cutler House boarding house on the southwest corner of Front &
Union Streets

Grand Traverse County was

officially organized in 1851. The

village was laid out by lumber baron e
Tracy Lay. In 1852, the
establishment of a post office
required the town’s name to change
from the unofficial “Grand Traverse
City” to “Traverse City.” Traverse
City’s first school started in 1853,
with classes taught by Helen
Goodale in a converted stable on
the 400 block of E. Front St. Later,
a frame school building constructed
at the corner of Park and State
Streets was used for church
services, community gatherings, and
classes. The Methodist Episcopal
Church and the Congregational
Church were organized in 1858 and
1863, respectively. Hannah, Lay,
and Company donated land for the i
first courthouse and jail which were = .
built in 1854. However, the wooden ;
courthouse burned down just 8 .~ —= =~ 3

years later.%®: %7 Fig 16:Hannah, Lay and Company’s lumber
schooner, the Oak Leaf, sailing to Chicago after the
Great Fire in 1871

Until 1864, Traverse City was very isolated. Those seeking to reach or leave the
town had to travel Lake Michigan by boat, or trek the Native American trails.
This largely limited travel to the warmer seasons, as boats could not safely
traverse the bay in winter. Hannah, Lay and Company purchased ships to
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transport their lumber to Chicago. Connection to Traverse City improved with
the construction of a road to the nearby town of Acme in 1857. %% 59 0. &1

1864-1871 The Road, Settlers and Agriculture

In 1864, after four years of construction, the Northport-Newago State Road
opened. It was the first road to the south, and followed a Native American trail.
At this time, stagecoach service was offered to both the Old Mission Peninsula
and to Muskegon. In 1870, Henry D. Campbell established stagecoach lines that
connected with the Grand Rapids and Indiana Railroad at Big Rapids. Although
the road was not easy to travel in winter, it was highly traveled during warmer
seasons, as new settlers moved to the Grand Traverse Area. %% 3 %4 &

In the mid-1860s, a number of factors made Northern Michigan an appealing
destination for settlers. Congress passed the Homestead Act in 1862, allowing
any individual 21 years or older to claim a 160-acre parcel of public land, so long
as they could pay a filing fee of $18, live on the land, build a home, make
improvements, and farm for 5 years. This was an incredible opportunity,
especially for newly-arrived immigrants, farmers without their own land, single
women, and former slaves. Unfortunately, this also meant that many settlers
disregarded Anishnabek claims, and seized land. At the end of the Civil War, in
1865, many soldiers were paid in land grants. Those receiving land grants in the
Grand Traverse Area who had little interest in living in Northern Michigan sold
their land to lumber barons or to eager settlers.

In 1865, some of Traverse City’s prominent citizens hired a state geologist to
examine and report upon the suitability of land and the climate in the area for
agriculture, with the hopes of attracting farmers. The report was very favorable,
pronouncing the region’s moderate climate and sandy soils well-suited for fruit
production. A species of crabapple, Malus coronaria, was already present in the
area before European settlers arrived. However, with European settlement,
foreign varieties of apples were introduced.®” The first cherry trees in the area
were cultivated by Reverend Peter Dougherty in 1852 at his mission in Omena.®®
Farmers were delighted to find that the cool nights were favorable “for ripening
of high-quality cherries and [producing] good color of Mcintosh apples.”® The
most successful orchards, later, were those within 5-10 miles of the bay. In
1867, George Parmalee established a fruit farm on OIld Mission Peninsula,
specializing in apple production. In other parts of the area, professional men
experimented with different varieties of fruit, including cherries. By 1868,
potatoes were being grown as a cash crop for export around Traverse City. % ™+ 72
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Figs 17a,b,c: Two photos of early homesteaders, The orchard of Dr. Kneeland

Meanwhile, Traverse City itself was growing. A building constructed on the
corner of Front and Park Streets in 1868 by the Honorable D. C. Leach included
county offices and a room for holding court.” New industries such as the
Greilick Chair Factory and Greilick Manufacturing Plant, started by an
enterprising former Hannah, Lay and Co. employee, focused on the use of
hardwoods. Two newspapers, “The Grand Traverse Herald,” started by Morgan
Bates, and the “Traverse Bay Eagle,” run by Elvin Sprague, competed within the
small community. Hannah, Lay and Co. built new structures. These included the
bridge at the foot of Union Street and a permanent dam on the Boardman River,
between Cass and Union Streets, which was used to power the new four-story
Hannah-Lay Gristmill. On Washington St. near Cass, the Methodist Episcopal
Church was built on land donated by Perry Hannah, and dedicated in 1867. The
Congregational Church at 302 Washington was constructed the same year.’™
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Figs 18a,b,c: Front Street 1865, Leach Building on left in 1870, Union Street Bridge built 1866.

Figs 18d,e,f: Hannah-Lay Gristmill built 1869 on Boardman River near Union St., Greilick Chair
Factory, Joseph Greilick’s sawmill & factory, built 1871 at the foot of Union St. on the Bay

1872-1890 Railroads, New Markets and Growth

The arrival of the railroad, a reliable multi-season mode of travel, had been long-
awaited and precipitated great change in all areas of Traverse City life. The first
railroad to come to Traverse Bay was supposed to bypass Traverse City and to go
to the town of Little Traverse instead. Citizens of both Traverse City and Grand
Traverse County formed the Traverse City Railroad Company and raised $20,000,
which was matched by another $20,000 from Hannah, Lay and Company, to build
a branch of railroad from Walton to Traverse City. In 1872, the Grand Rapids and
Indiana Railroad arrived in Traverse City. A temporary depot built at this time
was replaced by separate freight and passenger depots in 1884. The railroad was
a great boon for both commerce and personal travel; along with lumber,
potatoes were among the first cargoes exported from the region. Easier travel
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also made Traverse City more accessible to the lecture circuit; for example it
enabled Susan B. Anthony to speak about women’s suffrage at the Ladies’ Library
Association in 1879. As Traverse City became more and more accessible, the
population grew rapidly, increasing from 3,000 in 1884 to 4,000 in 188

75, 76, 77
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Figs 19a,b,c: The Grand Rapids and Indiana Railroad, . This early 1890s view west from the
railroad water tower shows the RR bridge over the Boardman River (left), near its mouth into
West Grand Traverse Bay (right), Loading potatoes onto railroad cars in 1898

Railroads didn’t provide the only new connection to the outside world.
Michigan Bell Telephone ran lines to Traverse City from Charlevoix and Elk
Rapids in 1875, and a telegraph line connected the post office to the Grand
Rapids and Indiana Railroad depot.
Regular  telephone service was
established in 1884. Local travel by
water also improved, with Hannah,
Lay, and Company steamers “Clara
Belle” and “City of Grand Rapids”
offering service to Northport, New
Mission, Suttons Bay and Bowers
A ossanE— -3 Harbor, Petosky and Mackinaw. & ™
Fig 20:Clara Belle, purchased by Hannah, Lay

& Company in 1876

Growth of retail and services continued downtown. In 1873, Henry D. Campbell
built Campbell House, a hotel on Park and State Streets, to serve visitors.
Hannah, Lay, and Company bought Campbell House in 1879, and added a 3-story
Annex across Park St. in 1880. The immense Hannah, Lay, and Company
Mercantile Building opened on the corner of Front and Union in 1863. Hailed as
the biggest general store north of Grand Rapids (possibly the largest general
store in Michigan), the three story building included six large departments, a
bank vault, and a generator in the basement to provide the first electricity in
town. Traverse City was dramatically different from most other company towns,
due to the character of its founding fathers. Instead of trying to monopolize
business, as would have been typical in company towns, Traverse City’s lumber
barons encouraged growth by providing start-up capital for enterprising workers
who wished to open competing stores and industries. One prominent competing
dry goods store, operated by former Hannah, Lay and Co. employees J. W.
Milliken and Frank Hamilton, opened in 1874 and moved into a new building on
the ccs)gner of Front and Cass, which they shared with the First National Bank, in
1889.
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Figs 21a,b: The Campbell House built 1873 on the c:rner of State and Park Streets, The
Annex, which was connected by an enclosed walkway over Park St., was built in 1880.
The Hannah, Lay & Company Mercantile Building

igs 21c,d,e: Interior of Mercantile, The Milliken-Stage Building, Interior of Milliken-Stage

Traverse City’s institutions were growing at this time as well. In 1881, Traverse
City was incorporated as a village, with Perry Hannah as president. Central
School was built in 1877 at the current location of Central Grade School, and
Traverse City High School was built in 1886. A Fire Station was constructed on the
corner of Union and Seventh Streets. Traverse City’s first water works were built
by Judge Campbell in 1881, and his sons joined him to build Traverse City’s first
electric light and power plant at the same site in 1885. The new jail and
sheriff’s quarters were completed in 1884. The Northern Michigan Asylum (later
known as the State Hospital) opened in 1885 under the direction of Dr. James
Decker Munson. Occupational therapy and contact with nature were an
important part of treatment at the Asylum. The patient population increased
from 43 to more than 400 within one month, and soon became one of the largest
employers in Traverse City.®'8 A multitude of religious organizations and

structures sprang up, including the Baptist Church at 244 Washington Street and
St. Paul’s Church (later to become Grace Episcopal) on State Street (both built in
1874), as well as Congregation Beth-el at 311 S. Park Street, south of Washington
Street, in 1885. The Friends (the Quaker Church) began meeting, and St. Francis
Catholic Church was built on Cass and 10" Street in 1887.53 84 8
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Figs 22a,b,c: Jail & Sheriff’s Quarters built 1884, Congregation Beth-el built 1885, Northern
Michigan Asylum built 1885

St. Francis became the nucleus of the already-thriving Bohemian community that
had grown up south of the Boardman River, as new immigrants arrived to work at
the sawmills from the 1850s through the 1870s. Concentrated around Union and
8™ Streets, the Bohemians built homes of modest size, exhibiting a great variety
of styles and individuality that was expressed in fine woodcarving and small
details. This neighborhood gained three additional amenities in the late 1880s:
the Wilhelm Bros. Clothing and Dry Goods Store, built on the northeast corner of
Union and 8" Street in 1885; Novotny’s Saloon, built in 1886 at 423 S. Union
Street, and the Cesko Slovansky Podporujici Spolecnost community lodge hall,
built in 1887 at 320 S. Union Street.®" ¥
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Flgs 23a b 1879 Aerial view drawing of Traverse Clty s south side (Wlth Unlon Street Brldge in
foreground), St. Francis Church on Cass and 10" Streets built 1887
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Figs 23c,d,e: Cesko Slovansky Podporuu boi cnostulodge hall built 887, View ooing north
along Union St. from 9" Street, View north along Union from 8™ Street

While members of the working class - including mill hands, factory workers,
clerks and carpenters - lived in boarding houses or at the perimeter of the city,
the families of business and professional people began to form a neighborhood
around Washington Street, east of Boardman Avenue and south of Front Street.
Eventually, this became the Boardman neighborhood, which soon extended to
Railroad and Eighth Streets. The earliest houses in the Boardman neighborhood
were carpenter’s cottages, which gained additions as families grew. In the early
1880s, the fanciful and romantic Queen Anne style of architecture appeared in
Traverse City. Characterized by steeply-pitched roofs, asymmetrical gables,
towers, turrets, and copious amounts of gingerbread, part of the appeal of this
style was that its surface decoration allowed for a great range of individuality,
even amongst houses of the same exact structure.®®: ®



26

E e i HS. HulLs ResmmeNcE, TaaVErst Crry. Mich,
Flgs 24a b: 1890 photograph of Woodlawn built in the 1880s at 516 Washmgton St The
Victorian home of Oval Wood Dish President Henry S. Hull, built on the northeast corner of
Washington and Wellington Streets in 1894

The look of the downtown streets was changing too: in 1878, Washington St. was
graded, clayed, and graveled from Boardman Ave. to 244 Washington. In 1886,
Front Street between Cass and Park was improved with a curbing of blue Euclid
stone and sewers to carry water away. Front Street bore raised boardwalks on
either side of the street near its intersection with Union. A year later, street
numbers were established with odd numbers on the east and north sides of the
streets, running consecutively up from the corner of Front and Union. Bridges
were built at W. Front Street and at 8" and Boardman Ave.*

The United States government continued to push for the assimilation of Native
Americans, through the Dawes General Allotment Act of 1887. This act divided
up the least desirable tribal lands for use by individual Native Americans. This
undermined traditional tribal ties and lifestyles of indigenous peoples, while
making the remaining land available for non-Native Americans. Around the same
time, schools for Native American children were established. Children were
often taken far from their homes and families, deprived of the use of their native
languages, and indoctrinated into the ways of mainstream Americans.

1890s Culture, Recreation, Tourism and New Industries

The 1890s ushered in a new era of culture and recreation for Traverse City.
Believing that the city was ready for the next step in its cultural evolution, Perry
Hannah persuaded Charles Wilhelm, Anthony Bartak, and Frank Votruba to build a
much larger structure to serve as home for their mercantile, grocery, dry goods,
carriage and leather goods stores and would also include a Victorian-style, 1,200-
seat opera house. In its early years, the City Opera House served as a venue for
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“concerts, traveling plays, vaudeville shows, high school graduations, dinners and
balls.” Steinberg’s Grand Opera House, seating 900, was completed just three
years later, farther east on the north side of Front Street, and also provided
delightful live entertainment and culture for its patrons until the rise of motion
picturgels and concurrent decline of live shows in the late 1910s caused it to
close.

F.VOTRUBA HARNESS CO.
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Figs 26a,b,c: 1930s photo of the City Opera House built 1891, Frank Votruba’s Leather goods
store on first floor of the City Opera House Building, Julius Steinberg’s Grand Opera House
built 1894

Outdoor recreational opportunities increased, as the city leased land bounded by
Union, Division, 11", and 14" Streets for a park. The park contained a baseball
diamond and mile track. The Leach Building was moved back from Front Street
so that it opened on Park Street instead of Front Street, and an ice-skating rink
was put in on its former site in the winter of 1893. Traverse City’s first golf
course was constructed on land provided by Perry Hannah. Traverse City’s high-
society organized the exclusive social and recreational We-Que-Tong Club, and
members built a three-story clubhouse at the mouth of the Boardman River,
between the river and the bay, with an area in the lowest level for docking
pleasure craft.% %

Residents were not the only ones to benefit from these new amenities. Traverse
City continued to become more accessible with the arrival of the Chicago and
Western Michigan Railroad in 1890, and the Manistee and Northeastern Railroad
in 1892, allowing tourists from the south to seek the cooler summer weather and
scenic vistas of northwestern Michigan. Visitors attracted by the clean lakes,
sandy beaches, woodlands, hills, and valleys arrived to spend their summer
vacations at local resorts, guest houses and hotels. **

Figs 27a,b,c: The We-Que-Tong Club, Bicyclists on the beach in 1896, Manistee an

Northeastern Railroad Depot, built 1892 near Union and Bay Streets

Downtown continued to grow and prosper, with the addition of the Masonic,
Beadle, Munson, and Wurzberg Buildings, and the Whiting Hotel. The most
devastating fire in the history of Traverse City’s downtown occurred in 1896,
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destroying most of the wooden buildings on the south side of Front Street
between Park and Cass. All of these structures were replaced with brick
buildings.*

Figs 28a,b,c: Beadle Bui rner of Front and Cass Streets) , s nic
Hall (southeast corner of Front and Union Streets) built 1890, Destruction caused by 1896 fire

In 1895, Traverse City officially became a city, with a city charter and Perry
Hannah as President. Services and utilities increased. A new Fire Station was
built on Cass Street. Consumer Oil Company began daily deliveries of kerosene
and gasoline by tank wagon, and the first bulk fuel station opened on Gillis
Street. The new Boardman River Electric Light and Power Company began
servicing not only businesses and residences, but was also contracted by the city
to provide electricity for streetlights. Northern Telephone came to Traverse City
in 1898 and strung wires on poles along the city streets. However, they were
soon taken over by Citizens Telephone Company, which buried the downtown
lines underground, began providing rural service, and by 1900, established long
distance connections with the rest of the state. Public transportation began in
1894 with new horse-drawn city bus lines that ran from the Asylum to Union
Street and on to Front Street, and from Oak Park down Washington St. and back
to Front Street.% ¥/
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Figs 29a,b,c: Firehouse (on the corner of Cass St. and the alley between Front and State
Streets) built 1890, Electricity poles along Front Street in 1896, Citizens Telephone Company
cross-connecting room 1903

In 1897, a speed law for horses was passed, limiting speeds to 8 mph on Front
Street, and 12 mph on Union Street. State Street was becoming populated
largely by livery stables; the stench and flies of the European Horse Hotel next-
door to Grace Episcopal Church motivated the clergy and parishioners to
physically move the church building three blocks, to a new location on
Washington Street. % %°
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Figs 30a,b: The European Horse Hotel next to Grace Epicpal Church, Grace Episcopal
Church, recently torn down, on Washington St.

Farmers had long considered fruit trees to be a secondary source of income,
alongside their main crops. However, by 1890, many found that it was more
profitable for them to focus their production on cherries and other fruits, rather
than on grains and vegetables. Orchards, vineyards, and berry farms thus
became increasingly popular, while potato farming continued to flourish. %

New industries utilizing hardwoods, as well as those capitalizing on Traverse
City’s burgeoning commercial fruit and potato production, popped up all along
the city’s many waterfronts. The hardwood industries included W.E. Williams
Company, the Wells-Higman Basket Factory (which produced containers for
picking, shipping, and storing fruit), Oval Wood Dish Factory (one of the city’s
largest employers for many years), and Fulghum Manufacturing Company. J.C.
Morgan bought a cider mill at the foot of Union Street, on the bay, from Hannah,
Lay and Company, and soon built a cold storage plant nearby. The Potato
Implement Company manufactured sprayers, dusters, and the locally-invented
seed/corn hand planters, for worldwide distribution. Michigan Starch Company,
producilglg potato and then corn starch, opened on the bay, but closed within four
years.
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Figs 31a,b,c: W.E. Williams Company 1890, (south of 8" Street, west of Boardman River),
Baskets from Wells-Higman Basket Factory (south corner of 8" & Wellington Sts.) built 1892,
Oval Wood Dish Factory relocated to the shore of Boardman Lake (southwest of the Railroad

Depot), from Mancelona in 1892
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Figs 31d,e: J. Morgan Cider Mill, purchased 1892 from Hannah Lay & Co Michigan Starch
Company (1899 1903) on Bay St.
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Fig 31f: Major Industrlal Sites in Downtown Traverse City

1900-1910 Construction Extravaganza

The first decade of the twentieth century was Traverse City’s most prolific
period of growth. From 1900 to 1905, almost 500 buildings were constructed,
forming the core of today’s city.'® By 1910, the city’s population had grown to
12,115.1% Some of the most notable structures built during this decade were: %

e Emanuel Wilhelm’s five-story brick “skyscraper,” home to the Traverse
Theatre'®, and later, Traverse Hotel (This building lost its top three stories in a
fire in 1970.)

e The stone and brick County Courthouse on Washington Street and Boardman
Avenue

e The Traverse City State Bank on the northwest corner of Front and Union
Streets

e The Carnegie Library on Sixth Street

e Traverse City’s first Post Office Building on the corner of State and Cass Streets
e The Ladies’ Library Building on Cass Street, just south of the new Post Office.
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Figs 32a,b,c: The Emanuel Wilhelm building (on the southwest corner of Front and Union
Streets), built 1900, The County Courthouse (on the southeast corner of Washington Street
and Boardman Avenue) built 1900, The Traverse City State Bank (on the northwest corner of
Front and Union Streets) built 1902

Tho Post Office - Traverse City, /ich

——

Street) built 1904, The Post Office (later to

Figs 32d,e,f: The Carnegie Building (at 322 Sixth
become City Hall, on the southeast corner of State and Cass Streets) built 1905, The Ladies
Library (at 216 S. Cass Street) built 1909

Significant residential construction also occurred during this period. The
completion of Perry Hannah’s immense Victorian house on Sixth Street in 1894
made this street suddenly fashionable, and other well-to-do families
subsequently located here. Hannah approved each plan before a new home was
built on Sixth Street. Preferring order, symmetry, and a certain unity of
appearance, Hannah platted the lots himself, and specified that all homes along
Sixth Street be set back the same distance from the street. (This may have been
one of Traverse City’s first documented efforts to regulate building standards
that would not be codified as law until about fifty years later.) Although many of
the new homes were in the Queen Anne style, by the late 1890’s frustration with
the amount of maintenance required for this style caused an adverse reaction,
and large, square neo-Colonial homes or Georgian-Colonial homes became
popular. 1 7 Although a cemetery sat across Sixth Street from his new home,
Perry Hannah had the graves (including those of some Native Americans)
relocated to Oakwood Cemetery, making way for a new park.*® The
construction of Hannah Park along the south shore of the Boardman River, right
next to the site of the soon-to-be-built public library, was yet another attraction
for prospective new home-owners. Central Neighborhood grew outward from
Sixth Street, and today is roughly bounded by 5", Union, 13", and Division
Streets.'®



Figs 33a,b,c: Perry Hannah s house on SIXth Street occupled seven lots, the Carriage House in
later years, The Cary Hull House built 1905

Hannah Park, Traverse City, Mich.

Figs 33d, annah Park, along the south shore of the Boardman Rivest of.~Unio Street

More modest residences were constructed on the south side of town to house
workers employed at a new railroad yard and roundhouse. Built in the early
1900s east of Lake Avenue, between 11" and 12™ Streets, the roundhouse

provided maintenance and repair services for steam engines of all three of
Traverse City’s railroads. ™

Figs 34a,b,c: New worker housing on E. 10" and 11 Streets and lumber ready for more houses
on E. 12" Street, around 1905, Traverse City’s Railroad yard and Roundhouse east of Lake
Ave., between 11" and 12" streets around 1900

Industries in Traverse City and the region were kept busy supplying materials for
all of this new construction. R.W. Round and Son foundry produced heavy
castings for building columns and door sills. Traverse City Manufacturing
Company made custom millwork, including doors, window sashes, store and
office fixtures, and planing mill products. Southside Lumber Company
manufactured hardwood interior furnishings for homes and businesses. A.W.
Rickerd specialized in marble and granite works, while Traverse City Iron Works,
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on the southern shore of the Boardman River, west of Cass Street, also
prospered. !

Figure 35: outﬁide_ umber opay (on ake
Avenue between 8" and 9'" Streets), built 1900

Other industries complemented Traverse City’s agricultural activities, catered to
residents’ sweet tooths, or increased Traverse City’s importance as a center of
regional commerce. Traverse City Canning Company, owned by Perry Hannah,
Dr. C. J. Kneeland, and Birney Morgan, opened on Hall Street in 1902 and later
moved to Lake St. J.C. Morgan (no relation to Birney Morgan) opened Morgan
Cannery on N. Union Street in 1907. Women often earned extra income for their
families by working in fruit-processing plants. Straub Bros. and Amiotte Candy
Company constructed a new building on W. Front and Hall Streets, also
employing mostly young women. In 1902, Musselman Grocery Company opened a
large (3 stories + basement) wholesale warehouse on the bay, from which they
distributed their products regionally and supplied local grocers.**? 13

e,

,b,c: Traverse City Canning Company on Lake St, Morgan’s Cannery at the north end

[Tl | .l ] R k-
, Straub Bros & Amiotte Candy Factory at the northwest corner of Front and Hall

Streets built 1905, Musselman Grocer Company (on the Bay) built 1902, A neighborhood
grocery store

Utilities grew and the city began to assume responsibility for some services. In
1900, H.D. Campbell and Sons sold their water works to the city, heralding the
beginning of the Traverse City Water Department. The Traverse City Gas
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Company, located on Hall Street (now the Candle Factory) manufactured
flammable gas from coal, and
distributed it to customers through
pipes, starting in 1901.**

Fig 37: Traverse City Gas Company on Hall St.
built 1901

1910-1924 Automobiles, Cherries and Economic Decline

The preferred mode of transportation in Traverse City changed between 1910 and
1914 as automobiles became increasingly popular. Dealerships such as the Grand
Traverse Auto Company appeared on Front Street and more and more rough,
potholed roads were repaired and paved with crushed rock. Traverse City even
had its own automobile manufacturer, the Napolean Motor Car company, from
1917-1924. Rennie’s Oil Company, the city’s first gas station, opened at 128 S.
Union Street in 1918. In 1921, motorized bus service became available in town,
and the firehouse also changed over to motorized vehicles in the 1920s.**" ¢
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Figs 38a,b,c: 1912 photo' of Columbia Transfer Comny Convoy fF -' owners re ng‘;for
a picnic sponsored by Grand Traverse Auto Company in 1914, Grand Traverse County road-
paving crew in 1916
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Figs 38d,e,f A automobile anufacfﬂré_d by the Npoleon Motor Ca Compny 1917, Rennie
Oil Company’s “Pioneer Station of the North”, Motorized vehicles used by Traverse City’s
firemen, outside Cass St. Firehouse

As automobiles became increasingly affordable and reliable, more tourists
arrived, seeking peaceful relaxation or active recreation in Grand Traverse Bay’s
natural areas and cities. Camp Interlochen, a recreation camp for girls, opened
near Traverse City in 1917.**" The Boardman River’s charm for fishermen was
enhanced in 1913 when it was stocked with 56,000 rainbow trout.'*® The
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Northwestern Michigan Fair found a home in land purchased from Howard and
Isabelle Whiting by Grand Traverse County.'* In 1905, the Traverse City Golf
and Country Club opened to Traverse City’s elite with an eighteen-hole golf
course that doubled as a toboggan run in winter.? *! Traverse City State Park
was established on the East Bay in 1920. In 1918, a new attraction materialized
downtown, with the opening of the motion picture-playing Lyric Theatre at 233-
235 E. Front Street. Unfortunately, in 1920, the motion picture firm operating
the Lyric Theatre also leased and closed the City Opera House to remove
competition for its own film theaters.?: 1%

Figs 39c,d,e: Traverse City Golf and Country Club in warmer weather and in winter, Traverse
City State Park on East Bay

A variety of festivals and parades attracted tourists, enabled Traverse City
residents to connect as a community, and allowed merchants to advertise their
wares with floats. Traverse City’s Fourth of July Parade drew visitors from as far
away as Manistee. Some of these festivals even doubled as service days, such as
“Clean Up and Paint Day” in 1912.%*
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Figs 40a,b: A Milliken Store float in a 1920s Fourth of July Parade, Clean Up and Paint Day,
1912

Agriculture was thriving in the Grand Traverse region in the early 1900s and
1910s. Barn-raising and threshing days served as social events as well as being
efficient ways of pooling the labor of a group of farm families to achieve
individual projects. Cranberries, raspberries, and ginseng were profitable to
grow in the region, in addition to Traverse City’s usual cash crops of potatoes,
apples, and cherries. In the early 1910s, cherry production started to exceed
apple production and in 1913, a half million dollar cherry crop led to Traverse
City’s recognition as the cherry center of the nation. 1914 saw the first
§2e6frigerated train cars which allowed fruits to be shipped across the country.**

Fi'g'j's 41a, Threshing day (EImwood Twp.) 1907, Barn-raiing 19, Havestin cranberries
(Walton Junction) 1909
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d,e,f: Ginseng farm (Grawn) around 1904, Potato buyer’s station (corner of Union and

Figs 41
State Streets, TC) 1910, Apple harvest (Old Mission Peninsula) 1918

From 1910 to 1920 industry declined due to the depletion of hardwoods. Many
factories destroyed by fire were not rebuilt. In 1917, Oval Wood Dish Company
moved to Tupper Lake, NY, taking 100 worker families with it, and precipitating
an economic decline that lasted until World War 11.**"- ¥ By 1925, Traverse
City’s population had declined to 10,925.'%#
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These were also a time of political turmoil for the United States. When the
nation entered World War [, all aliens in Traverse City were rounded up and
registered. Prohibition was in effect from 1920 to 1933, generating great
enthusiasm for moonshine production amongst some portions of the population.
In 1923, the Klu Klux Klan held a demonstration on Front Street.

130

Figs 42a,b,c: Oval Wood Dish Company, early 1900s, Prohibition-era sled bearing supplies for
making moonshine, Traverse City’s “Home Guard” organized after the United States entered
WWI

Positive progress during this period included the first vote for women in a school
board election in 1917, the organization of Traverse City’s Chamber of Commerce
in 1918, and the chartering of the Rotary Club of Traverse City in 1920.*

1925-1939 Festivals, Air Travel, Clinch Park and the Indian Reorganization Act
of 1934

Traverse City held a new festival in the spring of 1925 to celebrate its new status
as the “Cherry Capitol of the World.” Complete with a cherry blossom queen, a
parade with a multitude of blossom-bedecked floats, and a priest to provide the
blessings, the Blessing of the Blossoms Festival was a delightful occasion for
residents, business-owners, and tourists. Just three years later, the celebration
was renamed the Michigan Cherry Festival, and was rescheduled for mid-July to
take advantage of the abundance of ripe Grand Traverse cherries.

., ©

Figs 43a,b,c: 1925 cherry harvest, A priest performing the blessing of the blossoms in 1926,
the Cherry Blossom Queen candidates

Figures 43d,e,f: 1926 Blessing of the Blossom parade floats
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In the 1920s, a number of civic improvements made Traverse City easier to
navigate. The North Cass Street Bridge was built over the Boardman River in
1926. A cobblestone fountain was installed in the center of Cass Street at the
same time, serving as a home to a number to sturgeon during the summer
months. Traverse City’s first traffic lights were installed on Front Street at the
intersections with Park, Cass, and Union Streets. In 1930 and 1931, dangerous
old bridges spanning South Cass and Union Streets were replaced with two new
bridges. The city was cognizant that the quality of bridges at these important
locations could seriously influence tourists’ perception of Traverse City. The
Union Street Bridge, in particular, served as a gateway to Traverse City because
of its location on a state and federal route. They took care to ensure that the
design and materials used were aesthetically pleasing. The city’s first airfield
was established south of town on Ransom field, on top of Rennie Hill. A biplane
named “Spirit of Traverse City” provided Traverse City’s first air service to the
rest of the state. In 1936, a new city airport opened on Garfield Avenue, and
Penn-Central Airline began service there in 1938.1%% 3¢

Figu ridge at S. Cass Street
(1892-1929), The new American Legion Memorial Bridge at S. Cass Street
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Figures 44d,e: The biplane “Spirit of Traverse City”, The Traverse City Airport (1936)

In 1930, old factories and industrial waste still littered Traverse City’s bay front.
Traverse City Park Commissioner Conrad Foster spearheaded an immense effort
of hundreds of volunteers in the early 1930s to clean up the waste leftover from
industries on the bay, and to make a portion of the bay front into a public
park.’® The Michigan Starch Company Factory on the bay was torn down in
1922, and the We-Que-Tong Club property was sold to the city in 1935 (with the
intention that it be used for park space). Clinch Park, as this section of bay front
was named, grew rapidly. Conrad Foster convinced the Public Works
Administration to hire locals to build three structures for the park. In 1930, an
aquarium was built at Clinch Park to house local freshwater fish. In 1931, the
Clinch Park Zoo opened at the end of Cass Street, and in 1935 the Con Foster
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Museum was constructed.™®® Conrad Foster journeyed throughout the Midwest
purchasing Native American and pioneer artifacts to display in the museum.¥
The Elsie Raff Hannah Bathhouse joined the other buildings on the bay, and a
wading pool in front of it allowed swimmers to rinse beach sand off their feet
before going indoors.**® Another project of the Works Progress Administration
was the construction of the small-scale buildings of a Miniature City, a
permanent exhibit at the Clinch Park Zoo, to the delight of children and adults